Seminar series nr 116

# Winter Dynamics of the Greenhouse Gas Exchange in a Natural Bog

# **Magnus Lund**

2005

Geobiosphere Science Centre Physical Geography and Ecosystems Analysis Lund University Sölvegatan 12 S-223 62 Lund Sweden



# Winter Dynamics of the Greenhouse Gas Exchange in a Natural Bog

By Magnus Lund, 2005 Supervisors: Torben Christensen, Mikhail Mastepanov & Lena Ström

Master Degree-thesis Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Analysis Lund University, Sweden

#### ABSTRACT

Northern peatlands are important in the context of the climate change. Since they comprise huge amounts of soil organic carbon and are found where the most significant greenhouse warming is predicted, they have the potential to exert major feedback effects on the global warming.

Studies of the greenhouse gas exchange in northern peatlands have mainly focused on the growing season when the soil is thawed. But recently, attention has been drawn to the importance of winter processes in the estimations of global greenhouse gas budgets.

In this study, fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in a natural, nutrient-poor peatland (ombrotrophic bog) in southern Sweden were measured from February to April using a closed chamber technique. Mean fluxes during this time for CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> were 68.6  $\pm$  9.9 (mean  $\pm$  SEM) and 0.70  $\pm$  0.06 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Fluxes were significantly higher when the soil was thawed as compared to when it was frozen. Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> also correlated strongly with temperature, and revealed high temperature sensitivities around 0 °C.

Fluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O showed an interesting trend. During the time when soil was frozen, a net uptake  $(-0.013 \pm 0.003 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1})$  was detected. Matching the moment in time when soil thawed, the mire turned from being a sink to a source  $(0.020 \pm 0.003 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1})$  of atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O. This delicate development can be ascribed to the theory that during the time when soil was frozen, N<sub>2</sub>O was the sole electron acceptor available for denitrifiers. When the soil thawed, nutrients derived from frost-killed soil organisms became available for the surviving microbial population, which allowed N<sub>2</sub>O production. More research is needed to quantify the N<sub>2</sub>O exchange in different mire sub-types, and to evaluate whether northern peatlands should be included in global N<sub>2</sub>O budgets.

This study concludes that winter processes are important, and should be taken into consideration in global greenhouse gas budgets. Temperature and freeze-thaw cycles are important factors regulating winter dynamics. The temperature sensitivity of the mire ecosystem is high at these low temperatures, which indicates that northern peatlands can act to enhance the climate change.

#### SAMMANFATTNING

Torvområden på det norra halvklotet är av stor vikt i forskningen kring klimatförändringen. Eftersom de håller stora mängder organiskt kol i marken, och återfinns där den mest signifikanta uppvärmningen förväntas, har de potential att utgöra en stark feedbackeffekt på den globala uppvärmningen.

Forskningen kring växthusgasutbytet mellan mark och atmosfär i torvområden har huvudsakligen fokuserat på växtsäsongen. Men på senare tid har växthusgasutbytet under vintertid ådragit sig ett ökat intresse, då det kan vara av stor betydelse för den årliga växthusgasbalansen.

I detta examensarbete har utbytet av CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> och N<sub>2</sub>O studerats i en naturlig, näringsfattig myr (mosse) i södra Sverige från februari till april med hjälp av en portabel gasanalysator kopplad till aluminiumkammare. I medel var utsläppet av CO<sub>2</sub> 68,6 ± 9,9 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (medelvärde ± SEM) och CH<sub>4</sub> 0,70 ± 0,06 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Utsläppen då marken var frusen var statistiskt sett lägre än då marken hade töat. Utsläppen av CO<sub>2</sub> och CH<sub>4</sub> korrelerade också starkt med temperatur, och uppvisade hög temperaturkänslighet kring 0 °C.

Utbytet av N<sub>2</sub>O uppvisade en intressant trend. Då marken var frusen, uppmättes ett nettoupptag (-0,013  $\pm$  0,003 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) av myren. Då marken började töa, blev myren istället en källa (0,020  $\pm$  0,003 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) för N<sub>2</sub>O. Denna utveckling kan förklaras med att under den tid då marken var frusen, var N<sub>2</sub>O den enda tillgängliga elektronacceptorn i denitrifikationskedjan. När den frusna marken töade, frigjordes näringsämnen från markorganismer som frusit ihjäl för den överlevande mikrobiella populationen, vilket möjliggjorde produktion av N<sub>2</sub>O. Det behövs ytterligare forskning för att kvantifiera utbytet av N<sub>2</sub>O i olika myrtyper, samt för att undersöka huruvida torvområden bör inkluderas i en global N<sub>2</sub>O budget.

Slutsatserna av denna studie är att växthusgasutbytet under vintertid är viktigt, och bör tas hänsyn till i en global växthusgasbudget. Temperatur och frys-tö cykler är faktorer som är viktiga för vinterdynamiken. Temperaturkänsligheten är hög för myren vid låga temperaturer, vilket kan vara en indikation på att torvområden kan förstärka klimatförändringen.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	9
BACKGROUND	11
The Greenhouse Effect	
The Climate Change	
The Greenhouse Gases	
Carbon Dioxide, CO <sub>2</sub>	
Methane, CH <sub>4</sub>	12
Nitrous Oxide, N <sub>2</sub> O	13
Biogeochemistry of Northern Peatlands	
Fluxes of CO <sub>2</sub> in Wetlands	13
Fluxes of $CH_4$ in Wetlands	14
Fluxes of N <sub>2</sub> U in Wetlands.	15
Interactions with the Climate Change	1/
METHODS AND MATERIAL	
Site Description	
Flux Measurements	
Additional Measurements	
Data Processing	
Statistical Methods	22
Calculation of N <sub>2</sub> O Solubility in Water	22
RESULTS	25
CO <sub>2</sub> Production	25 25
	<u>2</u> 3 77
N.A Fluxes	30
1420 Fluxes	
DISCUSSION	33
CO2 and CH4 Fluxes	
Temperature Sensitivity	
Spatial Variation	34
Freeze-thaw Cycles	35
N <sub>2</sub> O Fluxes	
Conclusions	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	39
REFERENCES	41
APPENDIX	
Collar Photographs	45
Count 1 noto51 abus	т. Т.

# INTRODUCTION

Northern peatlands and wet tundra regions are of great importance in the context of the climate change. They hold a huge amount of organic carbon in the soils, almost one-third of the world total (Post et al. 1982), and are also found where the most significant greenhouse warming is predicted (IPCC 2001). Altered carbon balances in these ecosystems can cause feedback effects that may further enhance the climate change (Joabsson et al. 1999).

Peatlands accumulate carbon when the vegetation sequesters more carbon from the atmosphere than is lost by decomposition, leaching or fire (Huttunen et al. 2003). Therefore, these ecosystems are in their natural state sinks for the important greenhouse gas carbon dioxide,  $CO_2$ . But due to the prevalent water-logged, anaerobic conditions that are favorable for methanogenesis, they are also significant sources of methane,  $CH_4$  (Christensen et al. 2003). Natural peatlands do in general show negligible atmospheric exchange with nitrous oxide,  $N_2O$  (Martikainen et al. 1993).

Production and consumption of these atmospheric trace gases are the result of biological processes such as photosynthesis, aerobic respiration and decomposition (CO<sub>2</sub>), methanogenesis and methanotrophy (CH<sub>4</sub>), and nitrification and denitrification (N<sub>2</sub>O). These processes are to a large extent sensitive to changes in climatic parameters, such as temperature and precipitation. When peatlands are subjected to climate change, a wide array of possible feedback effects is to be expected (Öquist 2001).

Most studies concerning the exchange of  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  in peatlands have focused on the growing season when the soil is thawed. But recently, attention has been drawn to the importance of winter processes in the calculations of global greenhouse gas budgets (Christensen et al. 1999). Microbial activity has been proved to occur at sub-zero temperatures (e.g. Dorland & Beauchamp 1991; Clein & Schimel 1995). This can occur at greater depths where temperatures are above zero, or at unfrozen microsites in the soil. Winter emissions from wetland and tundra regions have also been found to significantly contribute to annual greenhouse gas budgets (e.g. Melloh & Crill 1996; Alm et al. 1999).

Freeze-thaw cycles are of particular interest, since peaks in greenhouse gas emissions have been reported in connection with these events (e.g. Friborg et al. 1997; Papen & Butterbach-Bahl 1999). However, the mechanisms regulating winter emissions remain unclear. The ice and snow layers act as physical barriers, preventing exchange of gaseous compounds between soil and atmosphere. Gases produced in deeper soil will be restrained from escaping to the atmosphere, and the oxygen diffusion into the soil will also be limited, which regulates the aerobic respiration. Thaw events will remove this barrier and release entrapped gases.

Freeze-thaw events also have the potential to induce a transient increase in microbial activity. During the frost period, a large amount of the soil microbial biomass will die off. This will result in an easily degradable carbon and nitrogen source for surviving microbes. When the soil thaws and microbial activity increases as a response to warmer temperatures, the additional nutrient source will boost the greenhouse gas production (Schimel & Clein 1996; Papen & Butterbach-Bahl 1999; Teepe et al. 2001).

The aim of the study is to explore the winter dynamics of greenhouse gas fluxes. I hypothesize that frozen soil on the mire will restrain greenhouse gas exchange, while microbial activity will continue, albeit at a lower rate. When the soil thaws, there will be a release of physically entrapped gases. A transient increase in biological greenhouse gas production is also expected as a response to soil thaw, due to the increased nutrient and substrate availability derived from frost-killed soil microbes. The temperature sensitivity of the mire system at these low temperatures is likely high, and global warming can therefore exert a significant impact on the wintertime greenhouse gas emissions.

To address these hypotheses I measured fluxes of  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  in a natural, ombrotrophic mire in southern Sweden. Flux measurements from February to April were performed using a closed chamber technique. The exchange of trace gases will be compared to environmental variables, and the temperature sensitivity of the system will be evaluated.

# BACKGROUND

# The Greenhouse Effect

The energy that drives the climate system of the Earth is incoming solar radiation. In average,  $342 \text{ W m}^{-2}$  reaches the Earth each year, and about 31 % is immediately reflected back by the atmosphere and surface (Kiel & Trenberth 1997). The remainder is absorbed, and will eventually be lost to space as thermal infrared radiation. However, if the atmosphere would not contain the so-called greenhouse gases absorbing outgoing long-wave radiation, life on Earth as we know it would not be possible since the mean global temperature would be approximately -19 °C (IPCC 2001).

The atmospheric content of greenhouse gases, primarily water vapor  $(H_2O_{(g)})$ , carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) raises the mean global temperature to about 14 °C. These gases absorb energy in the infrared spectra, reemit it in all directions, and thus trap the thermal radiation and keep the Earth's surface warmer. This greenhouse effect is natural.

# The Climate Change

Any changes in the factors regulating incoming solar and outgoing thermal radiation will affect the net radiation, and thus warm or cool the Earth's surface. These changes can either be induced by natural or anthropogenic causes. Examples of natural causes are changes in solar radiation due to alterations in Earth's orbit around the sun, or increased amount of particles in the atmosphere due to volcanic eruptions.

Anthropogenic causes primarily include combustion of fossil fuels and landuse changes, which release huge amounts of  $CO_2$  to the atmosphere. Also other radiatively active compounds such as  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  are increasing; due to industrial and agricultural activities. The accumulation of theses gases in the atmosphere increases the entrapment of thermal radiation, and is therefore called the enhanced greenhouse effect.

The response of the climate system to the enhanced greenhouse effect is complex due to feedback mechanisms and non-linear responses. A feedback mechanism can either intensify (positive feedback) or dampen (negative feedback) the original effect (IPCC 2001). An example of a positive feedback is increased atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations resulting in raised temperatures, which will intensify the decomposition processes in soils and thus further increase  $CO_2$  emissions to the atmosphere.

Since the late  $19^{\text{th}}$  century, the global average surface temperature has increased with 0.4 - 0.8 °C (IPCC 2001). And further increases are to be expected. Due to the numerous amounts of feedback mechanisms and the interrelated components of the climate system, it is truly complicated to simulate the impacts of the climate change. By the means of numerical modeling of the climate system it is predicted that global temperature will continue to rise, with between 1.5 and 4.5 °C at the end of this century. It is also likely that most land areas will warm more rapidly than the global average,

particular those at northern high latitudes in the cold season (IPCC 2001). A warming trend could also lead to changes in rainfall patterns, with increased desertification in some areas, and flooding in other areas.

## The Greenhouse Gases

Human activities have significantly increased the atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases, which acts to increase the radiative forcing of the atmosphere and raise global temperatures.

### **Carbon Dioxide, CO<sub>2</sub>**

Measurements of trapped air bubbles in ice cores reveal historical variations in the atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration. During the last 420 000 years, the  $CO_2$  concentration has oscillated between 180 ppm during glacial periods and 300 ppm during interglacial periods (Petit et al. 1999). Pre-industrial levels (~280 ppm) are found within this range, but the present-day  $CO_2$  concentration (~370 ppm) is unprecedented during the past 420 000 years (IPCC 2001).

The current anthropogenic emissions of  $CO_2$  are primarily the result of combustion of fossil fuels and cement production. These are estimated to 6.3 ± 0.4 Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup> (mean ± SD). The emissions are balanced to some extent by the net uptake of oceans (-1.7 ± 0.5 Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup>) and the terrestrial biosphere (-1.4 ± 0.7 Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup>), resulting in an atmospheric increase of  $3.2 \pm 0.1$  Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup> (IPCC 2001).

## Methane, CH<sub>4</sub>

Similar to  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  has varied between low concentrations (320-350 ppb) at glacial periods and high concentrations (650-770 ppb) at inter-glacial periods (Petit et al. 1999). The present-day concentration of 1745 ppb dwarfs these earlier concentrations (IPCC 2001).

The atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> concentration is much lower than CO<sub>2</sub>, but its global warming potential (GWP), i.e. the relative radiative effect of CH<sub>4</sub> compared to CO<sub>2</sub>, is 23 on a 100 years time horizon (IPCC 2001). Its atmospheric concentration is also increasing at a higher rate, approximately 1 % per year. The sources of CH<sub>4</sub> are dominated by anthropogenic activities; e.g. fossil fuel burning (19 %) and waste management (17 %). The dominant natural source is methanogenesis in wetlands (21 %) (Schlesinger 1997). The total CH<sub>4</sub> source strength is approximately 598 Tg CH<sub>4</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Although the major sources have been identified, there are still uncertainties regarding the actual strengths, due to high variations in space and time (IPCC 2001).

The major sink of atmospheric methane is the reaction with hydroxyl radical (OH) in the atmosphere;

$$CH_4 + OH^- \rightarrow CH_3 + H_2O$$

Together with some additional removal processes, the total sink strength equals about 576 Tg CH<sub>4</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup>. The resulting atmospheric increase would then be 22 Tg CH<sub>4</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (IPCC 2001).

## Nitrous Oxide, N<sub>2</sub>O

The atmospheric concentration of  $N_2O$  is 314 ppb with an average rate of increase of  $0.8 \pm 0.2$  ppb yr<sup>-1</sup>, and its GWP is 296 on a 100 years time horizon (IPCC 2001). The global sources and sinks are not well known, but  $N_2O$  emissions from soils, the result of microbial nitrification and denitrification processes, are a major term in the budget. The increase of the atmospheric  $N_2O$  concentration is almost exponential, and is believed to be the result of increased soil nitrogen availability due to anthropogenic activities such as fertilization and increased nitrogen deposition (IPCC 2001).

The identified sink for  $N_2O$  in global budgets is photolysis in the atmosphere. The nitric oxide (NO) produced from  $N_2O$  in this process is further involved in stratospheric ozone destruction (Schlesinger 1997).

A small N<sub>2</sub>O uptake by soils is identified (e.g. Tiedje 1988, Conrad 1996) although not directly included in global budgets. According to IPCC (2001), it is incorporated into the net emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from soils because it is coupled to the overall N-partitioning.

## **Biogeochemistry of Northern Peatlands**

The concept of redox potential is important in the context of flooded soils. Redox potential is an expression for the tendency of an environment to gain or supply electrons; i.e. to oxidize or reduce a substrate (Schlesinger 1997). Presence of oxygen ( $O_2$ ) results in a high redox potential, since  $O_2$  is a strong oxidizing agent. Soil organisms obtain its energy from the oxidation of reduced materials (Paul & Clark 1989), and heterotrophic organisms use  $O_2$  as an electron acceptor in aerobic respiration.

However, when  $O_2$  is absent, a thermodynamically determined sequence of alternative electron acceptors in the following processes is expected as the redox potential declines (Bouwman 1990); denitrification (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), general fermentations (Fe<sup>3+</sup>, Mn<sup>4+</sup>), sulphate reduction (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) and methanogenesis (CO<sub>2</sub>). In wetland soils,  $O_2$  is depleted rapidly with depth due to the high moisture content, creating a vertical redox gradient. Most wetland soils are dominated by CO<sub>2</sub> as electron acceptor, and methanogenesis is therefore the dominating metabolic pathway. The same redox gradient as in the vertical dimension is also found around vascular plant roots releasing  $O_2$  to the rhizosphere, i.e. the area surrounding plant roots (Conrad 1996).

#### Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> in Wetlands

The assimilation of  $CO_2$  by photosynthesis is probably the most important process on Earth. Photosynthetic active radiation (PAR) provides the energy for enzymes to reduce  $CO_2$  and build carbohydrates that acts as building stones for living plants. The overall reaction for photosynthesis is;

 $6CO_2 + 6H_2O \rightarrow C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6O_2$ 

Plants use about one-half of the carbon fixed in photosynthesis as an energy source for maintenance and growth in the autotrophic respiration (Schlesinger 1997). The remainder, net primary production (NPP), will sooner or later enter the soil system as dead organic matter. This extensive carbon source is then

subjected to the process of decomposition, where heterotrophic organisms (bacteria, fungi, microfauna) obtain energy through oxidation of the reduced compounds. The overall reaction for respiration is the reverse of photosynthesis;

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6O_2 \rightarrow 6CO_2 + 6H_2O_2$$

During the decomposition process, nutrient elements are released (mineralized) and are made available for plant uptake and microbial use (immobilized).

In continuously wet conditions, photosynthesis usually exceeds total respiration. Decomposition is hampered by the lack of oxygen, and dead organic matter accumulates as peat. In general, temperature, moisture and substrate quality regulate decomposition rates (Schlesinger 1997).

Kirschbaum (1994) evaluated the temperature dependence of soil organic matter decomposition. He found the highest temperature sensitivity around 0 °C; with a  $Q_{10}$  of almost 8 (i.e. an increase of 10 °C would increase decomposition by a factor of 8). Low temperatures will therefore dampen the cold season decomposition rate. On the other hand, soil freezing will act to destroy soil microbes and aggregates, resulting in increased substrate availability (Schimel & Clein 1996).

When a frozen soil thaws, substrates captured in ice will be made available for heterotrophic organisms. This can result in a  $CO_2$  flux peak when soil temperature exceeds 0 °C. Öquist (2001) found that freeze-thaw treatments resulted in almost 100 % increase of the  $CO_2$  production potential, explained by the release of carbon substrates and inorganic compounds. Winter  $CO_2$ emissions from three natural bogs in Finland averaged 25 % of the annual  $CO_2$ budget, with mean daily winter emissions of 24.4, 45.8 and 38.2 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Alm et al. 1999).

## Fluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> in Wetlands

Under anaerobic conditions, dead organic matter is degraded to CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>;

 $C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 3CO_2 + 3CH_4$ 

However, no single microbe can complete this reaction by its own. Instead, many different species contribute to the complete process by degrading complex organic compounds to simpler molecules. The complex organic molecules (such as cellulose, hemicellulose, lipids and proteins) are enzymatically hydrolyzed into soluble sugars and amino acids. These are taken up by bacteria and fermented to alcohols, fatty acids,  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$ . The alcohols and fatty acids are then oxidized to acetate and  $H_2$ . (Conrad 1989; Öquist 2001). The actual methanogenesis mainly occurs via two metabolic pathways at low redox potential, acetate splitting;

 $CH_3COOH \rightarrow CO_2 + CH_4$ 

and CO<sub>2</sub> reduction (Schlesinger 1997);

 $CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O$ 

The net flux of  $CH_4$  to the atmosphere is regulated by methanotrophic bacteria consuming  $CH_4$  in the presence of  $O_2$ . Methanotrophy in wetlands occurs in the top layers, where the available substrate ( $CH_4$ ) to  $O_2$  ratio is optimal (Dedysh 2002). The net flux is also dependent on the type of  $CH_4$ 

transport. Diffusive transport exposes  $CH_4$  for methanotrophic bacteria in the aerobic layer, while ebullition (transport by gas bubbles that are created when  $CH_4$  production is high) causes  $CH_4$  to pass the aerobic layer too fast for oxidation to take place (Conrad 1989). During the growth season, plantmediated transport of gases in internal ventilation systems in vascular plant stems (aerenchyma) is of major importance for  $CH_4$  fluxes. Oxygen may be transported to the rhizosphere, inhibiting methanogenesis and enhancing aerobic respiration and  $CH_4$  oxidation. Methane may also escape the methanotrophic layer through the aerenchymateous tissue without being oxidized (Joabsson et al. 1999).

In wintertime, it is unlikely that ebullition and plant-mediated transport of  $CH_4$  occurs, due to the ice layer and dormant vegetation. However, cracks in the ice as well as the unfrozen layer surrounding plant stems can create temporary diffusive transport pathways. Melloh & Crill (1996) identified a  $CH_4$  buildup in deeper peat that began near the end of the growing season. This was explained by changed transport mechanisms, and also increased  $CH_4$  solubility in water at low temperatures.

In the process of freezing, pure water will freeze first and substrates will accumulate in the unfrozen water, causing its freezing point to decrease (Papen & Butterbach-Bahl 1999). This would increase methanogenic potential, since substrate availability and quality are important factors for CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Conrad 1989). However, the effect of low soil temperature during winter is also a strong regulator. Methanogenic activity usually shows high  $Q_{10}$  values, ranging from 5 – 10, which would significantly decrease methanogenesis at low temperatures (Christensen et al. 1999). However, at sub-zero temperatures no systematic relationship with CH<sub>4</sub> emissions could be found at a Swedish sub-arctic mire (Friborg et al. 1997).

Alm et al. (1999) report winter CH<sub>4</sub> emission of 22 % of the annual release from natural Finnish bogs (average winter flux on three bogs: 0.64, 0.78 and 0.37 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively). Average winter flux rates from a temperate poor fen in New Hampshire for five winters ending in 1994/1995, was 2.3 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> for years with average snowfall and 1.0 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> for years with low snowfall (Melloh & Crill 1996). The relationship with snow was explained with limited frost penetration and higher peat temperatures. Friborg et al. (1997) also found a rapid increase in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions as an immediate result of surface thawing. The physical effect of snow and top soil melting, releasing accumulated CH<sub>4</sub>, was regarded as the driving force.

#### Fluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O in Wetlands

Nitrous oxide is a key component in the global nitrogen cycle, since it is an intermediate in denitrification and a by-product of nitrification (Yoshinari 1990). Nitrification rates are primarily controlled by ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  and oxygen availability (Firestone & Davidson 1989). Since nitrification is an aerobic process, it is likely not a significant process involved in N<sub>2</sub>O production in wetlands. However, a drawdown of the water table can increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from nitrification activity (Martikainen et al. 1993).

Denitrification is a wide term responsible for the processes in which nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$  and nitrite  $(NO_2^-)$ , are reduced to nitrogen gases. Respiratory denitrifiers are basically aerobic bacteria with the alternative ability to reduce nitrogen oxides when oxygen is limiting (Tiedje 1988). The denitrification pathway of free intermediates and enzymes responsible for each step (Nar – nitrate reductase; Nir – nitrite reductase; Nor – nitric oxide reductase; Nos – nitrous oxide reductase) are shown below (Tiedje 1994).

$$NO_3^{-} \rightarrow NO_2^{-} \rightarrow NO \rightarrow N_2O \rightarrow N_2$$
  
Nar Nir Nor Nos

Most denitrifiers can perform the entire pathway, but some strains lack one step, e.g.  $N_2O \rightarrow N_2$ .  $N_2O$  will then be the final product of denitrification. Since  $N_2O$  can be further reduced to  $N_2$ , natural environments can act both as source and sink for atmospheric  $N_2O$ .

General requirements for denitrification are anaerobic conditions and availability of nitrogen oxides (oxidant) and organic carbon (reductant). The ratio  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$  is increased by increasing amount of oxidant and oxygen availability, decreased amount of reductant, and decreasing pH and temperature (Firestone & Davidson 1989).

Nitrous oxide can also be both produced and consumed by the so-called DNRA (dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonia) bacteria (Conrad 1996). This process has not been extensively studied, but DNRA activity seems to be favored in carbon-rich, electron acceptor-poor environments with low redox potential (Tiedje 1988). Matheson (2002) found that DNRA bacteria were responsible for as much as 49 % of the nitrate removal in an unplanted riparian wetland soil.

Aerts (1997) demonstrated that natural peat soils in the Netherlands have a high potential for denitrification, but the process was severely nitrate limited. Available nitrate was quickly utilized and its re-supply (nitrification) was inhibited in the absence of oxygen. Nitrate input via precipitation is likely important in these environments.

Dorland & Beauchamp (1991) found active denitrifiers down to -2 °C, and modeling suggests denitrification activity down to as much as -13 °C. Koponen et al. (2002) studied N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in agricultural soil cores, and found that N<sub>2</sub>O was produced at temperatures down to -6 °C. Good conditions for denitrification were achieved at unfrozen microsites in the soil surrounded by ice, which induced anaerobiosis. Produced gases were released during thaw events, and also through ice cracks.

Papen & Butterbach-Bahl (1999) found extreme N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in German forests during long-term frost periods and soil thawing, emissions higher than during summer-time (maximum N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were 0.5 - 0.6 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). It was explained with high microbial nitrogen turnover rates in small unfrozen water films surrounding soil particles, with high concentrations of easily degradable substrates, derived from frost-killed microbial biomass. Furthermore, since vegetation was dormant there was no competition for nitrogen. Neither nitrate leaching nor net immobilization was observed. At the end of the frost period, N<sub>2</sub>O peaks were attributed to the fact that soil thawing released additional substrates captured in ice.

Alm et al. (1999) report low winter  $N_2O$  emissions from a forested bog in Finland (< 0.1 mg m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), while Maljanen et al. (2004) found that  $N_2O$  emissions from organic agricultural soils during winter were important in the global budget, ranging from 2 to 99 % of annual emissions.

#### Interactions with the Climate Change

The proposed changes in temperature and precipitation will alter ecosystem properties and thus the natural greenhouse gas balance. The response of the biosphere to climate change will further impact the atmospheric chemistry.

Since most of the processes that are regulating carbon and nitrogen exchange between northern peatlands and the atmosphere are affected by the climate, a wide range of feedback mechanisms is possible in a future climate change. Rates of photosynthesis, respiration and CH<sub>4</sub> emission are expected to increase with increasing temperature. Respiration is likely to increase more than photosynthesis, and thus implying a positive feedback (Gorham 1991).

Warmer temperatures will increase soil activity and release more nutrients due to enhanced mineralization. A longer growing season and more available nutrients are likely to increase  $CO_2$  uptake by photosynthesis (Chapin et al. 1995). Trees might be expected to increase in abundance on mires; resulting in increased evapotranspiration and decreased albedo, which would increase the respiration. On the other hand, the enhanced tree growth will have a carbon assimilating effect, although transient (Moore 2001). Gorham (1991) argues that peat-accumulating ecosystems will have to move northwards as the climate becomes warmer and possibly drier in the southernmost peatland locations. One alarming possibility is that the rapidity of climate change will cause southern peatlands to be degraded faster than northern peatlands can expand northward. This will lead to a global net carbon loss from peatland soils.

Changes in hydrological patterns are hard to predict, but if evapotranspiration increases, water tables will be lowered in general (Gorham 1991; Moore 2001). Martikainen et al. (1993) estimated that drying caused by climate change equivalent to drainage by ditching 30 and 50 years ago in Finnish peatlands, would only increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions with 0.3-1%. Significant feedback effect from N<sub>2</sub>O emissions therefore seems unlikely. A lowered water table will increase the oxygen availability, hence the aerobic respiration and methane oxidation (Moore 2001). The sum effect of these processes is difficult to foresee.

# METHODS AND MATERIAL

## Site Description

The study site, Fäjemyren, is a natural, nutrient-poor peatland (ombrotrophic bog) located approximately 20 km northwest of Hässleholm in southern Sweden. Average temperature in February, March and April is -2.1, 0.6 and 5.0 °C, respectively (based on the years 1960-1990). Average precipitation is 38, 48 and 44 mm in the same months. The spring of 2005 was similar to the average, except for an unusually dry April, with only 7 mm of precipitation (SMHI 2005).

The main nutrient source of the bog is precipitation; average nitrogen deposition (dry and wet  $[NO_x + NH_x]$ -N deposition) in the area is 15-20 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for the years 1999-2002 (Persson et al. 2004). Average peat water pH at the field site measured during this campaign is 3.3.

The bog is sparsely vegetated with trees such as *Pinus silvestris* and *Betula pubescens*; and the field layer is dominated by mosses (*Sphagnum spp.*), sedges (*Eriophorum vaginatum*) and dwarf shrubs (such as *Calluna vulgaris* and *Erica tetralix*). In drier parts, trees are more abundant and other shrubs such as *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* and *Empetrum nigrum* are present.

## Flux Measurements

Flux measurements of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O were performed between the 29<sup>th</sup> of January and the 27<sup>th</sup> of April using a closed chamber technique. Six groups with four aluminum collars ( $60 \times 60$  cm, height 20 cm) each were inserted into the soil during the summer of 2004. Before measurements, aluminum chambers ( $62 \times 62$  cm, height 20 cm, total airspace 76.9 dm<sup>3</sup>) were fitted onto the preinstalled collars. The collars have grooves, which were filled with water, to provide an airtight seal. During one measurement cycle, three chambers were measured simultaneously, and each chamber was active in a predetermined time interval (300 or 600 seconds) for three to four cycles (total measurement time: 60 - 90 minutes). The experimental setup is described in *figure 1*. It should be pointed out that all flux measurements were performed during daytime, between 10:00 and 18:00. Fans were not used in the chambers.

The concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>O in the active chamber headspace were recorded continuously using a photoacoustic multigas (IR) gas analyzer (INNOVA 1312). During a measurement, a sample of air is drawn into the analysis cell. Pulsating light is sent from an infra-red light source through an optical filter, which transmits light in a defined wavelength range (i.e. the wavelength range of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O or H<sub>2</sub>O), and this light enters the cell. If there is a gas in the cell that absorbs light of this wavelength, a pressure wave is created due to the pulsating light that is increasing and decreasing gas temperature. Microphones measure this acoustic signal, which is proportional to the gas concentration.



**Figure 1.** A schematic drawing of the flux system setup. One pair of solenoid valves (for air inlet and outlet) is active during a predetermined time interval. A pump creates internal airflow, and air is drawn from the active chamber headspace through PVC tubes. The PC controls the solenoid valves and logs data from the photoacoustic multigas (IR) gas analyzer (INNOVA 1312). A pressure equalizer assures that an equal amount of air is taken from the chamber as is returned, to avoid pressure issues.

Water vapor  $(H_2O_{(g)})$ , is always present in ambient air and absorbs infra-red light in a wide spectrum. This means that the presence of  $H_2O$  will create a signal in the INNOVA, which interferes with the signals of the other gases, especially of  $N_2O$ , but also of CH<sub>4</sub>. The INNOVA tries to compensate for this interference, but not always in a satisfactory manner. Therefore, measurements with significant CH<sub>4</sub> or  $N_2O$  fluxes that show similar trends as significant H<sub>2</sub>O were excluded in this study.

Flux measurements were performed at a total of nine different collars. Boardwalks were used to minimize disturbance during the measurements. To be able to calculate fluxes, the chamber headspace volume was measured. Since vegetation biomass and microtopography differed in the collars, individual measurements were done. Each collar was divided into nine squares ( $20 \times 20$  cm), and in these subunits the deviation from chamber height was measured in one randomized point. The average deviation was then used as an increase or decrease of chamber height. Headspace volume was measured  $31^{st}$  of March and  $1^{st}$  of April, and no major changes in biomass were observed during this measurement campaign. Photographs of the nine collars used are provided in the *appendix*.

Snow was present during four measurement occasions: 29<sup>th</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> of January, 23<sup>rd</sup> of February and 16<sup>th</sup> of March. Snow depth was measured, and 0.70 cm<sup>3</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> was used as an average of snow porosity (Alm et al. 1999). The estimated volume occupied by snow was then subtracted from chamber headspace volume. Fluxes could be underestimated on these occasions due to gas exchange in the snow. At the 17<sup>th</sup> of March, the two collars used were

flooded four centimeters, and a new headspace volume was calculated using a decreased chamber height.

#### Additional Measurements

The vegetation composition was investigated on the 8<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> of April. The collars were once again divided into nine squares, and in each square the projected coverage of different species was estimated. Vegetation indices to be used in the analyses are the *Eriophorum vaginatum* to *Sphagnum spp*. ratio, *Eriophorum vaginatum* coverage, *Sphagnum spp*. coverage and total coverage of all vegetation species. *Eriophorum vaginatum* is a vascular plant with aerenchymateous tissue that provides a transport pathway for gases between soil and atmosphere.

Soil temperature at the mire was measured approximately 200 m from the flux measurement site, starting on the 9<sup>th</sup> of February. Five thermocouples were inserted into the ground during the summer of 2004. Three thermocouples measured at a depth of 5 cm at three vegetatively and topographically different sites. At one of these sites, soil temperature was also measured at a depth of 10 and 20 cm. A Minicube datalogger stored the temperature data at a time solution of ten minutes. In the following analyses, gas fluxes will be compared to average soil temperature at 5 cm in the three sites, and soil temperature at 20 cm, averaged over the same time period as the flux measurements.

Air temperature and precipitation data were ordered from SMHI (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute). The nearest station with high temporal resolution on temperature data was located in Hörby, approximately 50 km south of Fäjemyren. Therefore, absolute values of air temperature data are ca 0.5 - 1.0 °C overestimated, but the variation will be similar. Daily precipitation data was obtained from Osby, ca 20 km north of Fäjemyren.

## **Data Processing**

The output data from the INNOVA, concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>O (ppm), was plotted against time (minutes) in Microsoft Excel. Only those measurements with a linear regression coefficient ( $r^2$ ) that exceeded a fixed value were considered significant. The  $r^2$ -value used was 0.9 for all gases except for N<sub>2</sub>O, for which 0.7 was used.

The following equation was used to convert units from ppm min<sup>-1</sup> to mg m<sup>-2</sup>  $h^{-1}$ ;

$$Flux = 60 \cdot 10^3 \cdot 10^{-6} \cdot k \cdot \frac{pV}{ART} \cdot M$$
 (eq. 1)

where k is the slope of the regression line (ppm min<sup>-1</sup>); V is the chamber volume (l); p is the atmospheric pressure (atm); M is the molar weight (g mol<sup>-1</sup>); A is the chamber area (m<sup>2</sup>); R is the ideal gas constant (atm l K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>) and T is the temperature (K).

The temperature sensitivity of the fluxes of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  was calculated using the  $Q_{10}$  function (Kirschbaum 1994);

$$Q_{10} = \left(\frac{k_2}{k_1}\right)^{10/(T_2 - T_1)}$$
(eq. 2)

where  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  are the calculated fluxes at the soil temperatures (5 cm)  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ .

To be able to evaluate the spatial variation of the fluxes in different collars, each collar flux was normalized against the mean collar flux at that specific measurement occasion;

$$NormCollarFlux = \frac{CollarFlux}{MEAN(AllCollarFluxes)}$$
(eq. 3)

This was done because all collars were not used at all measurement occasions, and some collars were used at more occasions than others.

#### **Statistical Methods**

Differences in fluxes when soil was frozen and thawed were investigated using two-tailed t-tests. Flux difference tests between collars include one-way ANOVA to evaluate if differences exist, and Tukey's HSD post hoc test to find out between which collars the differences exist. Tukey's HSD takes the Bonferroni correction into account, which compensates for multiple comparisons.

The correlation between gas fluxes and independent variables was explored by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficient and testing it for significance. Regression models were evaluated by testing the independent variable for significance.

Assumptions for these parametric tests such as equal variance and normal distribution were controlled before undertaking the tests. All statistic tests were performed in SPSS.

#### Calculation of N<sub>2</sub>O Solubility in Water

An uptake of  $N_2O$  was observed in the chambers during the early season when the soil was frozen. To assess whether this uptake was of physical or biological origin, the  $N_2O$  solubility in water was evaluated. Since water with warmer temperature than ambient air was poured into the collars before measurements, it was suspected that water uptake of  $N_2O$  could be an explaining factor. The water solubility of  $N_2O$  as a function of temperature, salinity and partial pressure in the gas phase can be calculated using an equation given by Weiss & Price (1980);

$$C_{N20} = x' \cdot F \tag{eq. 4}$$

where  $C_{N2O}$  (nmol l<sup>-1</sup> of solution) is the equilibrium concentration of dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the water phase; *x*' (ppb) is the mixing ratio of N<sub>2</sub>O in the gas phase; and *F* (mol l<sup>-1</sup> atm<sup>-1</sup>) is a solubility function. Values of *F* are given in a table for different temperatures and salinities. Suppose that 0.5 l of 10 °C water were poured into the collar grooves before flux measurements, and that the water temperature decreased to 0 °C. The increased amount of N<sub>2</sub>O in this water will then be equal to 3.018 nmol, or 0.132 µg of N<sub>2</sub>O.

Melting snow in the chambers can also cause a physical uptake. However, since aluminum chambers were used the temperature inside the chambers will not be increased due to the high reflectivity of aluminum. In case of rapid snow-and ice-melt, a physical uptake may be detectable. Physical uptake of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  is also possible, but it will have a very small relative importance.



**Figure 2.** Daily precipitation (bars) and air temperature (line), fluxes of  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  from 29<sup>th</sup> of January to 27<sup>th</sup> of April. All flux values are in mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, error bars denote SEM.

# RESULTS

*Figure 2* shows air temperature and precipitation during the measurement campaign, together with fluxes of  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$ . The reason why there is only one flux measurement between the  $11^{th}$  of February and the  $16^{th}$  of March is that during this time the snow-cover on the mire exceeded chamber height. Removal of snow from the collars was considered to cause too much disturbance.

The issue of  $H_2O$  interference on the significant gas fluxes resulted in an exclusion of 35 % of the  $N_2O$  fluxes (24 out of 68) and 2 % of the  $CH_4$  fluxes (2 out of 83). The overall result was not affected by the exclusion.

# **CO<sub>2</sub> Production**

Since dark chambers were used in the flux measurements, photosynthesis was inhibited. The CO<sub>2</sub> flux is thus the result of aerobic and anaerobic decomposition, and respiration from soil animals and plants. Mean CO<sub>2</sub> production on Fäjemyren from 29<sup>th</sup> of January to 27<sup>th</sup> of April was  $68.6 \pm 9.9 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$  (mean  $\pm$  SEM). Fluxes were significantly lower when soil was frozen ( $48.2 \pm 8.4 \text{ mg} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ ), compared to when soil was thawed ( $119.7 \pm 12.5 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ , p = 0.002).

The average CO<sub>2</sub> production correlates well with air temperature ( $r^2 = 0.67$ , p < 0.001, see *figure 3*) and soil temperature ( $r^2 = 0.62$ , p < 0.001, see *figure 4*). The air temperature model overestimates the CO<sub>2</sub> production when soil temperatures are low. By analogy, the soil temperature model underestimates the CO<sub>2</sub> production at low soil temperatures when air temperatures are high.



**Figure 3.** Average  $CO_2$  production versus air temperature from 9<sup>th</sup> of February to 27<sup>th</sup> of April. Error bars denote SEM.

Snow was prevalent at only two measurement occasions when additional environmental variables were measured, namely 23<sup>rd</sup> of February (snow depth:

16 cm) and 16<sup>th</sup> of March (18 cm). Removing these occasions from the temperature models does not exert any major changes.



**Figure 4.** Average  $CO_2$  production versus soil temperature at 5 cm from 9<sup>th</sup> of February to 27<sup>th</sup> of April. Error bars denote SEM.

The temperature sensitivity  $(Q_{10})$  of the overall CO<sub>2</sub> production is 16.9. It was calculated by comparing mean CO<sub>2</sub> production when soil was frozen and when soil was thawed, see *table 1*. The theoretical soil temperature range for this Q<sub>10</sub> is -4.37 °C to 5.63 °C (mean 0.63 °C). Relative temperature sensitivity between frozen and thawed soil could not be calculated, since the temperature ranges for which CO<sub>2</sub> production was measured was too small, and resulted in false values.

**Table 1.** Temperature sensitivity  $(Q_{10})$  calculation for the CO<sub>2</sub> production.

-	• • • • •	-	
	Frozen soil <sup>a</sup>	Thawed soil <sup>b</sup>	
Mean soil temperature	-0.85	2.11	
<b>at 5 cm</b> (°C)			
Mean CO <sub>2</sub> production	51.8	119.7	$Q_{10} = 16.9$
$(mg m^{-2} h^{-1})$			
41-	41-		

<sup>a</sup> Data from 9<sup>th</sup> of February to 6<sup>th</sup> of April.

<sup>b</sup> Data from 8<sup>th</sup> of April to 27<sup>th</sup> of April.

When the soil was frozen,  $CO_2$  production was lower and the best predictor during this period is air temperature ( $r^2 = 0.55$ , p = 0.006). Also when the soil in the collars was completely thawed (from 6<sup>th</sup> of April), the production shows a high correlation with air temperature ( $r^2 = 0.90$ , p = 0.014). Soil temperature at 20 cm does not exert any correlation with  $CO_2$  production.

The spatial variation of the normalized  $CO_2$  production among the collars most frequently used (collar nr 1, 2, 3, 9, 11 and 12) is visualized in figure 5. The deviation from 1.0 indicates the deviation of the individual collar from mean  $CO_2$  production. The production in collar nr 12 was significantly higher than in collar nr 1, 9 and 11 (p < 0.05). No clear relationship with the vegetation indices in *table 2* can be found.

Table 2. Vegetation indices in the	most fr	equently	used con	ars.			
Collar nr	1	2	3	9	11	12	
Eriophorum vaginatum to	0.34	0.33	0.14	0.27	0.11	0.39	
Sphagnum spp. ratio							
Eriophorum vaginatum coverage	0.26	0.33	0.14	0.23	0.11	0.18	
Sphagnum spp. coverage	0.76	0.98	1.00	0.83	1.00	0.45	
Total coverage	1.29	1.50	1.42	1.31	1.20	0.83	

The spatial variation among the collars was also examined when soil was frozen and when soil was thawed, which did not deviate from the overall pattern in figure 5. When the soil was thawed, a negative correlation can be found between the CO<sub>2</sub> production and total coverage (p = 0.035). Since there is no valid explanation for this relationship, it is considered to be due to randomness.



Figure 5. Normalized  $CO_2$  production in the six most frequently used collars during the whole measurement campaign. Error bars denote 2 SEM.

#### CH₄ Fluxes

During the whole study period, Fäjemyren was a source of CH<sub>4</sub>. Mean emission was  $0.70 \pm 0.06$  mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Emissions were significantly higher when soil was thawed  $(0.93 \pm 0.09 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1})$ , as compared to when soil was frozen  $(0.61 \pm$  $0.06 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}, \text{ p} = 0.014$ ).

The fraction of CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes that failed the  $r^2 = 0.9$  criterion during each measurement occasion is visualized in *figure 6*, and show a peak around the time when soil was thawing. Spring thaw began the 16<sup>th</sup> of March, and all snow in the collars was melted the 22<sup>nd</sup> of March. At the 27<sup>th</sup> of March, it was observed that the topsoil was thawed in parts of the collars. The soil in the collars was completely thawed at the 6<sup>th</sup> of April. The CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes that failed the  $r^2 = 0.9$  criterion, did not show higher fluxes than previous or following CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes. Even an uptake of CH<sub>4</sub> was observed in some of the insignificant fluxes during this time period.



**Figure 6.** Percentage of failed CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes (squares), i.e. CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes that failed the  $r^2 = 0.9$  criterion, daily average soil temperature at 5 cm (dotted line) and daily average air temperature (solid line).

As is the case with the CO<sub>2</sub> production, the average CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes show significant correlation with both air temperature ( $r^2 = 0.63$ , p < 0.001) and soil temperature at 5 cm ( $r^2 = 0.38$ , p = 0.009). For the period when the top soil was frozen, air temperature is the only significant predictor of the CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes ( $r^2 = 0.69$ , p = 0.002), although soil temperature at 20 cm is close to significance ( $r^2 = 0.28$ , p = 0.095).

The correlation between CO<sub>2</sub> production and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes is high. It can be seen in *figure* 7 that the CO<sub>2</sub> production increases more rapidly than the CH<sub>4</sub> flux. The temperature sensitivity for CH<sub>4</sub> is also lower; when comparing mean CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes at frozen and thawed soil, the Q<sub>10</sub> is 3.58 (theoretical soil temperature range -4.42 to 5.58 °C, mean 0.58 °C, see *table 3*).

Table 3. Temperature ser	sitivity ( $Q_{10}$ ) calcula	tion for the $CH_4$ fluxes.	
	Frozen soil <sup>a</sup>	Thawed soil <sup>b</sup>	
Mean soil temperature at 5 cm (°C)	-0.96	2.11	
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Mean CH}_4 \textbf{ flux} \\ (mg m^{-2} h^{-1}) \end{array}$	0.63	0.93	$Q_{10} = 3.58$

<sup>a</sup> Data from 9<sup>th</sup> of February to 6<sup>th</sup> of April. <sup>b</sup> Data from 8<sup>th</sup> of April to 27<sup>th</sup> of April.



Figure 7. CH<sub>4</sub> flux versus CO<sub>2</sub> production for the whole measurement campaign. Error bars denote SEM.

The spatial variation of CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes among the collars during the whole measurement campaign is shown in *figure 8*. No significant relationship with vegetation indices provided in table 2 can be found. Collar nr 3, which differs significantly from collar nr 11 and 12 (p < 0.05), shows the lowest CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes. Collar nr 3 is also one of the chambers with the lowest coverage of Eriophorum vaginatum. A comparison between vegetation indices and the normalized CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes when soil was thawed do not reveal any correlations.



**Figure 8.** Normalized CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes in the most frequently used collars during the whole measurement campaign. Error bars denote 2 SEM.

## N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes

The N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes during the season show an interesting trend (*figure 2*). N<sub>2</sub>O is consumed during the period when the topsoil was frozen. Matching the moment in time when soil thawed, Fäjemyren turned from being a sink to a source. There is a significant difference between winter uptake (-0.013 ± 0.003 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) and spring release (0.020 ± 0.003 mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, p = 0.005), see *figure 9*.

A comparison between the average  $N_2O$  uptake and the calculated physical uptake by collar water (0.132 µg  $N_2O$ ), demonstrates that approximately 1 % of the average uptake can be explained by a physical uptake. For melting snow and ice to account for the average uptake; snow and ice in the collar must turn into more than 16 l of water during the measurement cycles.

Similar to the previous gases, the N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes correlate significantly with soil temperature at 5 cm ( $r^2 = 0.47$ , p = 0.003) and air temperature ( $r^2 = 0.39$ , p = 0.01). Improved correlation with soil temperature at 5 cm is achieved when using a quadratic model ( $r^2 = 0.56$ , see *figure 10*), where the N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes tend to show an optimum curve with soil temperature.



Figure 9. Comparison between  $N_2O$  fluxes when soil was frozen and thawed. Error bars denote 2 SEM.



**Figure 10.** Average  $N_2O$  flux versus soil temperature at 5 cm for the 9<sup>th</sup> of February to the 27<sup>th</sup> of April. Error bars denote SEM.

# DISCUSSION

# CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> Fluxes

Both the CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes show significant emissions throughout the measurement campaign, an evidence for the hypothesis that microbial activity proceeds even though the topsoil is frozen. The mean CO<sub>2</sub> production on Fäjemyren ( $68.6 \pm 9.9 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ ) is somewhat higher than the fluxes reported by Alm et al. (1999) in Finnish bogs. But since they measured winter fluxes, the mean flux when soil was frozen in this study ( $48.2 \pm 8.4 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ ) is more appropriate to compare with, and is also in the similar range.

The mean CH<sub>4</sub> emission when soil was frozen  $(0.61 \pm 0.06 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1})$  in this report is also comparable with the CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes reported by Alm et al. The winter emissions from a temperate poor fen in New Hampshire are higher (Melloh & Crill 1996), which can be ascribed to higher pH and nutrient availability. The correlation between CO<sub>2</sub> production and CH<sub>4</sub> flux is high (*figure 7*). This can be expected since they are both decomposition pathways, regulated by similar parameters such as temperature and substrate availability and quality.

#### **Temperature Sensitivity**

The best model for predicting fluxes of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  is air temperature. Soil temperature at 5 cm is also a strong predictor, but when the top soil was frozen, the variance in soil temperature could not explain the variance in the  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes. Soil temperature at 20 cm was not a significant variable in predicting  $CO_2$  fluxes, but for the  $CH_4$  fluxes, it was close to significance when soil was frozen. This can be explained by the fact that aerobic respiration occurs in the top layers to which oxygen can penetrate. Methanogenesis on the other hand, is more likely to occur in deeper layers, where redox potential is lower.

The temperature sensitivity of the Fäjemyren ecosystem is high at these cold temperatures, especially for the CO<sub>2</sub> production. The Q<sub>10</sub> for the CO<sub>2</sub> production reported in this study (16.9) is higher than those reported by Kirschbaum (1994). Clein & Schimel (1995) also found very high Q<sub>10</sub> for respiration in tundra soils, from 5.2 to 23.4 in the -2 to 5 °C range. The Q<sub>10</sub> for the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions on the other hand, is lower than what is generally found (Christensen et al. 1999). One explanation for this is that the water table quickly sunk when the soil thawed, because of low precipitation. This might have suppressed methanogenesis since high water table is an important regulator of CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes when soil is thawed (e.g. Bubier & Moore 1994, Joabsson et al. 1999), but enhanced CO<sub>2</sub> production since more oxygen became available in the soil. More oxygen in the soil will also increase the CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation.

Small changes in temperature can cause considerable effects on the greenhouse gas balance on northern peatlands. The predicted temperature increase of several degrees at the end of this century may actually double the winter-time  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions on this mire, judging solely from the regression models with temperature. In the widely cited global soil carbon model by Post et al. (1982), it is apparent that soil carbon density decreases with increasing temperature, for any particular level of precipitation. The effects of the climate change on mires will likely be more sophisticated though; the hydrology on the mire will be affected as a response to changed precipitation and evaporation patterns, as well as the nutrient availability and the competitive balance.

In recent studies, the need for distinguishing between different carbon pools in the soil is pointed out. The high temperature sensitivity in this study could primarily be caused by respiration from recently fixed carbon, i.e. plant respiration and decomposition of fresh litter derived from the last growing season. Grogan et al. (2001) found that respiration derived from recently fixed carbon in plants, fresh litter and rhizosphere exudates dominated the winter flux in sub-arctic heath tundra. Decomposition of bulk soil organic matter was low, and relatively insensitive to temperature. Melillo et al. (2002) documented changes in a decade-long soil warming experiment in a mid-latitude hardwood forest. Soil warming resulted in increased decomposition rates, but the response was transient because of the limited size of the labile soil carbon pool.

If the high temperature sensitivity for the  $CO_2$  production in this study is mainly associated with respiration from recently fixed carbon, a feedback effect on global warming in winter is likely transient. In modeling purposes of the climate change, it is therefore of importance to make a distinction between different soil carbon pools. When studying the temperature sensitivity of an ecosystem, it is also important that other factors such as the water table level or the nutrient availability are held at constant.

#### **Spatial Variation**

No significant relationship between  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes and vegetation indices were found. Vasular plants, here represented by *Eriophorum vaginatum* is known to have a positive effect on  $CH_4$  emissions during the growing season (e.g. Joabsson et al. 1999; Nykänen et al. 2002; Ström et al. 2003), but no clear relationship could be found in this study.

The conclusion one can draw from the lack of relationship between gas fluxes and vegetation indices is that vegetation composition is not an important factor regulating winter-time greenhouse gas exchange between soil and atmosphere on a small scale. This is not surprising since vegetation is dormant during winter. Other factors such as temperature, substrate availability and quality, microtopography or bacterial population density and diversity can be of larger importance. The lack of relationship is also an indication that plant respiration was less important than microbial respiration.

The effect of snow-cover on the greenhouse gas fluxes is hard to evaluate, since snow was prevalent at only two measurement occasions when additional environmental variables were measured. An insulating snow-pack acts to limit frost penetration (higher soil temperatures) and restrict gas exchange (Melloh & Crill 1996). Removing these events from the regression models did not exert any major changes, which indicates that even though collars were snow-covered, the fluxes did not deviate from overall pattern.

## **Freeze-thaw Cycles**

No significant release of entrapped gases was measured during this campaign. An increased fraction of CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes that failed the  $r^2 = 0.9$  criterion was observed though (figure 6), matching the moment in time when soil was thawing. Some physical release of entrapped  $CH_4$  bubbles is possible, but the fluxes that were insignificant did not exceed earlier fluxes. At a couple of times, the insignificant fluxes did actually show an uptake of atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub>. This rather abrupt change in physical character of the CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes can be attributed to changes caused by soil thaw. Increased oxygen diffusivity and higher temperatures in the top layers are important factors for methanotrophic activity (Dedysh 2002). Thawing in the top soil layers might have caused the methanotrophic community to increase CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation to a rate which occasionally exceeded methanogenesis. When the increased soil temperature reached the deeper layers where the methanogenesis takes place, net CH<sub>4</sub> exchange once again turned into emissions to the atmosphere. This suggestion is in agreement with a report by Clein & Schimel (1995), who found a shift from CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation to CH<sub>4</sub> production at sub-zero temperatures, explained by the ice layer inducing anaerobiosis.

The long frost period did probably result in a dieback in the microbial biomass. However, a boost in  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions as a response to increased nutrient and substrate availability could not be confirmed. The greenhouse gas emissions do indisputably increase after the soil thaw, but the cause is more likely increased temperatures. Bubier et al. (2002) suggests that the extent of prior freezing is related to the rate of release after thaw. Colder and longer frost period may kill more of the microbial population, so that there are fewer survivors when soil thaws, which results in lower thaw emissions.

It cannot be excluded that there were some release of entrapped greenhouse gases. This can have occurred during nighttime or a day when no flux measurements were performed. Another explanation for the absence of physical release of greenhouse gases in response to soil thaw can be attributed to the method used when measuring fluxes. The collars reached 10 - 20 cm down into the soil, and did in most cases reach through the ice cover at the top of the soil. The thickness of the ice cover did not exceed 10 cm during this measurement campaign. A thin layer between the soil inside the collars and the collar walls was observed. This might have provided a big pathway for gases entrapped beneath the ice layer to escape to the atmosphere. The relative importance of this pathway compared to unfrozen layers surrounding plant stems or ice cracks is probably large. If this is the case, it is apparent that the measured trace gas fluxes are the direct result of psychrophilic (cold-adapted) microbial activity in and beneath the frozen soil.

# N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes

The recorded N<sub>2</sub>O uptake of the peat soil during winter  $(-0.013 \pm 0.003 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1})$  seems to be of biological origin. A physical uptake by collar water could not explain the measured uptake. One could argue that melting snow and ice could cause a detectable uptake in the collars. Melting snow was only prevalent at the

16<sup>th</sup> and 17<sup>th</sup> of March. Melting soil ice can have occurred in some additional occasions, but it is unreasonable to expect such a rapid ice-melt in an area of 0.36 m<sup>2</sup>. Since aluminum chambers were used, soil temperature will not increase in the collars. Aluminum chambers are more likely to decrease soil temperature, since solar radiation is effectively reflected away.

One reasonable explanation for the N<sub>2</sub>O uptake is that since Fäjemvren is severely nitrate limited, it gains nutrients only from precipitation and pH is very low (pH 3.3), N<sub>2</sub>O can have served as the sole electron acceptor for psychrophilic denitrifiers in the frozen soil. However, many studies have found that low pH leads to an inhibition of N<sub>2</sub>O reductase (Firestone & Davidson 1989; Christensen et al. 1990; Aerts 1997). On the other hand, there are studies stressing the importance of microbial adaptation to the local environment. Cavigelli & Robertson (2000) report different responses to environmental regulators (pH, oxygen availability) by native denitrifying communities from two geomorphologically similar soils. Parkin et al. (1985) found that an acidtolerant denitrifying population had been selected in an agricultural soil that had a 20-year past history of low pH. Therefore, the possibility exists that an acidophilic denitrifying population adapted to the environment of Fäjemyren, is capable of reducing N<sub>2</sub>O even at low pH. As noted earlier, N<sub>2</sub>O can also be consumed by DNRA (dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonia) bacteria (Conrad 1996), and this explanation cannot be excluded.

Nitrous oxide uptake by soils has been found in other studies. Butterbach-Bahl et al. (1998) report a net uptake of 0.5  $\mu$ g m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in an acidic spruce forest ecosystem (pH 2.7-3.2) in Ireland with low atmospheric N input (5-6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>). A net uptake recorded over a 2-year period averaging 7.4  $\mu$ g m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was also reported in a deciduous forest (pH 3.8) in Belgium (Goossens et al. 2001). The explanation for the uptake in these studies is that N<sub>2</sub>O was the only electron acceptor left for denitrification. The mean N<sub>2</sub>O uptake reported in this study (13  $\mu$ g m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) is somewhat higher, but the emissions are not included and it is not averaged over a whole year.

Fäjemyren turned from being a sink to a source of atmospheric  $N_2O$  when the soil thawed. It can be ascribed to the fact that additional nutrients captured in, or above, the ice became available. The ice and snow layers may have prevented nitrogen from dry and wet deposition to reach the anaerobic layers where denitrifiers are present. The long period with frozen soil (more than two months) did also probably cause a big dieback of microbial biomass. When the soil thawed, nutrients from dead microbes became available for surviving microbes to grow on. Now denitrifiers can have gained access to fresh nitrogen substrates and N<sub>2</sub>O production became possible. Since vegetation growth was still limited, competition for nutrients was probably low. The process of N<sub>2</sub>O reduction recorded during the frozen season might have continued, but in that case it was exceeded by the production of N<sub>2</sub>O.

April was an unusually dry month with only 7 mm of precipitation. This resulted in water tables that were lower than normal. Water tables in the end of April ranged from 9 to 15 cm below ground in the collars. A drawdown of the water table increases oxygen diffusion into the ground and the potential for

nitrification (Martikainen et al. 1993), in which  $N_2O$  is a by-product. If nitrifying bacteria were present at the mire, they can to some extent have been responsible for the recorded  $N_2O$  emissions.

Further measurements of the N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes at the mire are needed to assess whether the N<sub>2</sub>O production is transient. If the emissions are due to increased nutrient availability caused by soil thaw, it is reasonable to believe that the mire will once again turn into a sink for atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O, when the extra nutrient pool is exhausted. Slight evidence for a transient effect can also be found in *figure 10*, where the N<sub>2</sub>O flux tend to show an optimum curve with temperature (higher soil temperatures were found late in the measurement season).

The global  $N_2O$  sources and sinks are not fully understood, and global  $N_2O$  budgets are often unbalanced. As Butterbach-Bahl et al. (1998) point out; seasonal changes between periods of net emission and net uptake of  $N_2O$  between soil and atmosphere have not been considered in the estimation of the source strength of soils. This implies that the  $N_2O$  budget is even more out of balance. In more recent budgets (e.g. Mosier et al. 1998) focus has been on the source strength of agricultural soils, which are better understood than natural soils. Northern peatlands soils are currently not included in the budgets reviewed in IPCC (2001).

Northern peatlands may be of importance for  $N_2O$  budgets in the predicted global warming. It has been proposed that in a warmer and drier climate, water tables will be lowered which could increase nitrification activity in wetland soils. However, Martikainen et al. (1993) did not find any support for significant feedback effects of  $N_2O$  emissions as a result of lower water tables in Finnish peatlands.

In this study, freeze-thaw cycles seem to be an important regulator of the  $N_2O$  exchange between peatlands and atmosphere. Freeze-thaw cycles have in several cases proved to be of major importance in annual  $N_2O$  budgets (e.g. Papen & Butterbach-Bahl 1999). The effect of global warming on freeze-thaw cycles can cause both positive and negative feedback effects. In more southerly regions normal winter freezing might not occur in the future, while in other regions long winter frost periods could be replaced by several freeze-thaw events (Smith 1997).

This study does not propose any major guidelines of how northern peatlands are to be included in  $N_2O$  budgets, since both emissions and uptakes were recorded. But it stresses the need for continuous  $N_2O$  measurements in different wetland sub-types. Northern peatlands can have the potential to exert a significant effect on global  $N_2O$  budgets, and in a future climate change this effect might be strengthened.

# Conclusions

This report concludes that significant greenhouse gas exchange in a natural, nutrient-poor peatland (ombrotrophic bog) occurs throughout the winter season. The importance of the winter fluxes in the context of annual budgets, require flux measurements during a whole year. Freeze-thaw cycles and temperature are

strong factors regulating the winter dynamics at the mire; and the predicted climate change is likely to cause severe disturbances to the ecosystem.

The global sources and sinks of atmospheric  $N_2O$  are not quantified in a satisfactory manner. Northern peatland soils are currently not included in global budgets, but this study demonstrates that these soils can act both as sources and sinks for  $N_2O$ . More research is obviously needed to evaluate the total effect of the  $N_2O$  exchange between peatland soils and the atmosphere.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors for feedback and motivating discussions. I especially want to thank Torben for all the inspiration and for encouraging me to take own initiatives and decisions; Lena for providing great feedback on my report; and Mikhail for all the help with the technicalities. I also want to point out that I appreciate that you all always gave feedback and answers to my questions quickly, which have been a true privilege.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Lisbeth Rauff who made the measurements on Fäjemyren possible, since was responsible for installing collars and boardwalks. I would also like to thank Erik Lund for reading my report and suggesting writing improvements; Sebastian Jansson for lending me a fancy digital camera; and Ann and Ronny Brinck for letting me stay over several nights during my fieldwork.

# REFERENCES

- Aerts, R. (1997) Atmospheric nitrogen deposition affects potential denitrification and N<sub>2</sub>O emission from peat soils in the Netherlands. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 29(7): 1153-1156
- Alm, J., Saarnio, S., Nykänen, H., Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P.J. (1999) Winter CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes on some natural and drained boreal peatlands. Biogeochemistry 44: 163-186
- Bouwman, A.F. (1990) Exchange of Greenhouse Gases Between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere. In: Bouwman, A.F. (eds) *Soils and the Greenhouse Effect*. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, West Sussex: 61-129
- Bubier, J.L. & Moore, T.R. (1994) An ecological perspective on methane emissions from northern peatlands. TREE 9(12): 460-464
- Bubier, J., Crill, P. & Mosedale, A. (2002) Net ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> exchange measured by autochambers during the snow-covered season at a temperate peatland. Hydrological Processes 16: 3667-3682
- Butterbach-Bahl, K., Gasche, R., Huber, C.H., Kreutzer, K. & Papen, H. (1998) Impact of N-input by wet deposition on N-trace gas fluxes and CH4oxidation in spruce forest ecosystems of the temperate zone in Europe. Atmospheric Environment 32(3): 559-564
- Cavigelli, M.A. & Robertson G.P. (2000) The functional significance of denitrifier community composition in a terrestrial ecosystem. Ecology 81(5): 1402-1414
- Chapin, F.S., Shaver, G.R., Giblin, A.E., Nadelhoffer, K.J. & Laundre, J.A. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology 76(3): 694-711
- Christensen, S., Simkins, S. & Tiedje, J.M. (1990) Spatial variation in denitrification: Dependency of activity centers on the soil environment. Soil Science Society of America Journal 54: 1608-1613
- Christensen, T.R, Panikov, N. & Klemedtsson, L. (1999) The Importance of Winter Processes for the Understanding of Carbon Balance and Trace Gas Exchange in Northern Terrestrial Ecosystems. In: Turunen, M., Hukkinen, J., Heal, O.W., Sælthun, N.R. & Holten, J.I. (eds) A terrestrial transect for Scandinavia/Northern Europe: Proceedings of the international Scantran conference. Ecosystems research report No 31. European Commission, Luxembourg: 129-133
- Christensen, T.R., Panikov, N., Mastepanov, M., Joabsson, A., Stewart, A., Öquist, M., Sommerkorn, M., Reynaud, S. & Svensson, B. (2003) Biotic controls on CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> exchange in wetlands – a closed environment study. Biogeochemistry 64: 337-354
- Clein J.S. & Schimel, J.P. (1995) Microbial activity of tundra and taiga soils at sub-zero temperatures. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 27(9): 1231-1234
- Conrad, R. (1989) Control of Methane Production in Terrestrial Ecosystems. In: Andreae, M.O. & Shimel, D.S. (eds) Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester: 39-58

- Conrad, R. (1996) Soil Microorganisms as Controllers of Atmospheric Trace Gases (H<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, OCS, N<sub>2</sub>O and NO). Microbiological Reviews 60(4): 609-640
- Dedysh, S.N. (2002) Methanotrophic Bacteria of Acidic Sphagnum Peat Bogs. Microbiology 71(6): 638-650
- Dorland, S. & Beauchamp, E.G. (1991) Denitrification and ammonification at low soil temperatures. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 71: 293-303
- Firestone, M.K. & Davidson E.A. (1989) Microbiological Basis of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O Production and Consumption in Soil. In: Andreae, M.O. & Shimel, D.S. (eds) *Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere*. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester: 7-22
- Friborg, T., Christensen, T.R. & Søgaard, H. (1997) Rapid response of greenhouse gas emission to early spring thaw in a subarctic mire as shown by micrometeorological techniques. Geophysical Research Letters: 24(23): 3061-3064
- Goossens, A., de Visscher, A., Boeckx, P. & van Cleemput, O. (2001) Two-year field study on the emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from coarse and middle-textured Belgian soils with different land use. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60: 23-34
- Huttunen, J.T, Nykänen, H., Turunen, J. & Martikainen, P.J. (2003) Methane emissions from natural peatlands in the northern boreal zone in Finland, Fennoscandia. Atmospheric environment 37: 147-151
- IPCC (2001) Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Gorham, E. (1991) Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. Ecological Applications 1(2): 182-195
- Grogan, P., Illeris, L., Michelsen, A. & Jonasson, S. (2001) Respiration of recently-fixed plant carbon dominates mid-winter ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> production in sub-arctic heath tundra. Climatic Change 50:129-142
- Joabsson, A., Christensen, T.R. & Wallén, B. (1999) Vascular plant controls on methane emissions from northern peatforming peatlands. TREE 14:385-388
- Kiehl, J.T. & Trenberth, K.E. (1997) Earth's Annual Global Mean Energy Budget. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78(2)197-207
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. (1994) The temperature dependence of soil organic matter decomposition, and the effect of global warming on soil organic C storage. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 27(6): 753-760
- Koponen, H.T., Flöjt, L. & Martikainen, P.J. (2004) Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils at low temperatures: a laboratory microcosm study. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 36: 757-766
- Maljanen, M., Komulainen, V.-M., Hytönen, J., Martikainen, P.J. & Laine, J. (2004) Carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane dynamics in boreal organic agricultural soils with different soil characteristics. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 36: 1801-1808
- Martikainen, P.J., Nykänen, H., Crill P. & Silvola, J. (1993) Effect of a lowered water table on nitrous oxide fluxes from northern peatlands. Nature 366: 51-53€

- Matheson, F.E., Nguyen, M.L., Cooper, A.B., Burt, T.P. & Bull, D.C. (2002) Fate of <sup>15</sup>N-nitrate in unplanted, planted and harvested riparian wetland soil microcosms. Ecological Engineering 19: 249-264
- Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A., Aber, J.D., Newkirk, K., Lux, H., Bowles, F.P., Catricala, C., Magill, A., Ahrens, T. & Morrisseau, S. (2002) Soil Warming and Carbon-Cycle Feedbacks the Climate System. Science 298: 2173-2176
- Melloh, R.A. & Crill, P.M. (1996) Winter methane dynamics in a temperate peatland. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 10(2): 247-254
- Moore, P.D. (2002) The future of cool temperate bogs. Environmental Conservation 29(1): 3-20
- Mosier, A., Kroeze, C., Nevison, C., Oenema, O., Seitzinger, S. & van Cleemput, O. (1998) Closing the N<sub>2</sub>O budget: nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 52: 225-248
- Nykänen, H., Vasander, H., Huttunen, J.T. & Martikainen, P.J. (2002) Effect of experimental nitrogen load on methane and nitrous oxide fluxes on ombrotrophic boreal peatland. Plant and Soil 242: 147-155
- Papen, H. & Butterbach-Bahl, K. (1999) A 3-year continuous record of nitrogen trace gas fluxes from untreated and limed soil of a N-saturated spruce and beech forest ecosystem in Germany 1. N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Journal of Geophysical Research 104(D15): 18 487-18 503
- Parkin, T.B., Sexstone, A.J. & Tiedje, J.M. (1985) Adaptation of Denitrifying Populations to Low Soil pH. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 49(5) 1053-1056
- Paul, E.A., & Clark, F.E. (1989) Soil Microbiology and Biochemistry. Academic Press, San Diego
- Persson, C., Ressner, E. & Klein, T. (2003) Nationell miljöövervakning MATCH Sverige modellen. SMHI Meteorologi 113. Internet (2005-05-15) Available at:

http://www.smhi.se/sgn0102/n0205/nvv/1999/info/meteorologi113.pdf

- Petit, J.R., Jouzel, J., Raynaud, D., Barkov, N.I., Barnola, J.M., Basile, I., Bender, M., Chappellaz J., Davis, M., Delaygue, G., Delmotte, M., Kotlyakov, V.M., Legrand, M., Lipenkov, V.Y., Lorius, C., Pepin, L., Ritz, C., Saltzman, E. & Stievenard, M. (1999) Climate and atmospheric history of the past 420,000 years from the Vostok ice core, Antarctica. Nature 399: 429-436.
- Post, W.M., Emanuel, W.R., Zinke, P.J. & Stangenberger A.G. (1982) Soil carbon pools and world life zones. Nature 298: 156-159
- Schimel, J.P., Clein, J.S. (1996) Microbial response to freeze-thaw cycles in tundra and taiga soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 28(8): 1061-1066
- Schlesinger, W.H. (1997) *Biogeochemistry: An Analysis of Global Change*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Academic Press, San Diego
- Smith, K.A. (1997) The potential for feedback effects induced by global warming on emissions of nitrous oxide by soils. Global Change Biology 3: 327-338

- Ström, L., Ekberg, A., Mastepanov, M. & Christensen, T.R. (2003) The effect of vascular plants on carbon turnover and methane emissions from a tundra wetland. Global Change Biology 9: 1185-1192
- Teepe R., Brumme, R. & Beese, F. (2001) Nitrous oxide emissions from soil during freezing and thawing periods. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33: 1269-1275
- Tiedje, J.M. (1988) Ecology of denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. In: Zehnder, A.J.B. (eds) *Biology of Anaerobic Microorganisms*. John Wiley & Sons, New York: 179-244
- Tiedje, J.M. (1994) Denitrifiers. In: Weaver, R.W., Angle, J.S. & Bottomley, P.S. (eds) *Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 2 – Microbiological and Biochemical* Properties. Soil Science Society of America, Wisconsin: 245-268
- Weiss, R.F. & Price, B.A. (1980) Nitrous oxide solubility in water and seawater. Marine chemistry 8: 347-359
- Yoshinari, T. (1990) Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from various environments the use of stable isotope composition of N<sub>2</sub>O as tracer for the studies of N<sub>2</sub>O biogeochemical cycling. In: Revsbech, N. P. & Sorensen, J. (eds.) Denitrification in Soil and Sediment. Plenum Press, New York
- Öquist, M. G. (2001) Northern Peatland Carbon Biogeochemistry. Dissertation. Department of Physics and Measurement Technology, Division of Biology & Department of Water and Environmental Studies, Linköping University

# APPENDIX

# **Collar Photographs**

Photograph 5 Collar nr 6

Photographs taken the 31<sup>st</sup> of March. No major changes in biomass were observed during the measurement campaign. Collar nr 1, 2, 3, 9, 11 and 12 were most frequently used, while collar nr 5, 6 and 7 were used at only two measurement occasions. Vegetation species that are visible in these photographs are mainly *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *Sphagnum spp*.



Photograph 6. Collar nr 7





Photograph 7. Collar nr 9

Photograph 8. Collar nr 11



Photograph 9. Collar nr 12

Lunds Universitets Naturgeografiska institution. Seminarieuppsatser. Uppsatserna finns tillgängliga på Naturgeografiska institutionens bibliotek, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 LUND.

The reports are available at the Geo-Library, Department of Physical Geography, University of Lund, Sölvegatan 12, S-223 62 Lund, Sweden.

- 1. Pilesjö, P. (1985): Metoder för morfometrisk analys av kustområden.
- 2. Ahlström, K. & Bergman, A. (1986): Kartering av erosionskänsliga områden i Ringsjöbygden.
- 3. Huseid, A. (1986): Stormfällning och dess orsakssamband, Söderåsen, Skåne.
- 4. Sandstedt, P. & Wällstedt, B. (1986): Krankesjön under ytan en naturgeografisk beskrivning.
- 5. Johansson, K. (1986): En lokalklimatisk temperaturstudie på Kungsmarken, öster om Lund.
- 6. Estgren, C. (1987): Isälvsstråket Djurfälla-Flädermo, norr om Motala.
- 7. Lindgren, E. & Runnström, M. (1987): En objektiv metod för att bestämma läplanteringars läverkan.
- 8. Hansson, R. (1987): Studie av frekvensstyrd filtringsmetod för att segmentera satellitbilder, med försök på Landsat TM-data över ett skogsområde i S. Norrland.
- 9. Matthiesen, N. & Snäll, M. (1988): Temperatur och himmelsexponering i gator: Resultat av mätningar i Malmö.
- 10A. Nilsson, S. (1988): Veberöd. En beskrivning av samhällets och bygdens utbygg-nad och utveckling från början av 1800-talet till vår tid.
- 10B. Nilson, G., 1988: Isförhållande i södra Öresund.
- 11. Tunving, E. (1989): Översvämning i Murciaprovinsen, sydöstra Spanien, november 1987.
- 12. Glave, S. (1989): Termiska studier i Malmö med värmebilder och konventionell mätutrustning.
- 13. Mjölbo, Y. (1989): Landskapsförändringen hur skall den övervakas?
- 14. Finnander, M-L. (1989): Vädrets betydelse för snöavsmältningen i Tarfaladalen.
- 15. Ardö, J. (1989): Samband mellan Landsat TM-data och skogliga beståndsdata på avdelningsnivå.
- 16. Mikaelsson, E. (1989): Byskeälvens dalgång inom Västerbottens län. Geomorfo-logisk karta, beskrivning och naturvärdesbedömning.
- 17. Nhilen, C. (1990): Bilavgaser i gatumiljö och deras beroende av vädret. Litteratur-studier och mätning med DOAS vid motortrafikled i Umeå.
- 18. Brasjö, C. (1990): Geometrisk korrektion av NOAA AVHRR-data.
- 19. Erlandsson, R. (1991): Vägbanetemperaturer i Lund.
- 20. Arheimer, B. (1991): Näringsläckage från åkermark inom Brååns dränerings-område. Lokalisering och åtgärdsförslag.
- 21. Andersson, G. (1991): En studie av transversalmoräner i västra Småland.
- 22A. Skillius, Å., (1991): Water havesting in Bakul, Senegal.

- 22B. Persson, P. (1991): Satellitdata för övervakning av höstsådda rapsfält i Skåne.
- 23. Michelson, D. (1991): Land Use Mapping of theThat Luang Salakham Wetland, Lao PDR, Using Landsat TM-Data.
- 24. Malmberg, U. (1991): En jämförelse mellan SPOT- och Landsatdata för vegetations-klassning i Småland.
- 25. Mossberg, M. & Pettersson, G. (1991): A Study of Infiltration Capacity in a Semiarid Environment, Mberengwa District, Zimbabwe.
- 26. Theander, T. (1992): Avfallsupplag i Malmöhus län. Dränering och miljö-påverkan.
- 27. Osaengius, S. (1992): Stranderosion vid Löderups strandbad.
- 28. Olsson, K. (1992): Sea Ice Dynamics in Time and Space. Based on upward looking sonar, satellite images and a time series of digital ice charts.
- 29. Larsson, K. (1993): Gully Erosion from Road Drainage in the Kenyan Highlands. A Study of Aerial Photo Interpreted Factors.
- 30. Richardson, C. (1993): Nischbildningsprocesser en fältstudie vid Passglaciären, Kebnekaise.
- 31. Martinsson, L. (1994): Detection of Forest Change in Sumava Mountains, Czech Republic Using Remotely Sensed Data.
- 32. Klintenberg, P. (1995): The Vegetation Distribution in the Kärkevagge Valley.
- 33. Hese, S. (1995): Forest Damage Assessment in the Black Triangle area using Landsat TM, MSS and Forest Inventory data.
- Josefsson, T. och Mårtensson, I. (1995). A vegetation map and a Digital Elevation Model over the Kapp Linné area, Svalbard -with analyses of the vertical and horizontal distribution of the vegetation.
- 35. Brogaard, S och Falkenström, H. (1995). Assessing salinization, sand encroach-ment and expanding urban areas in the Nile Valley using Landsat MSS data.
- 36. Krantz, M. (1996): GIS som hjälpmedel vid växtskyddsrådgivning.
- 37. Lindegård, P. (1996). Vinterklimat och vårbakslag. Lufttemperatur och kåd-flödessjuka hos gran i södra Sverige.
- Bremborg, P. (1996). Desertification mapping of Horqin Sandy Land, Inner Mongolia, by means of remote sensing.
- Hellberg, J. (1996). Förändringsstudie av jordbrukslandskapet på Söderslätt 1938-1985.
- 40. Achberger, C. (1996): Quality and representability of mobile measurements for local climatological research.
- 41. Olsson, M. (1996): Extrema lufttryck i Europa och Skandinavien 1881-1995.
- 42. Sundberg, D. (1997): En GIS-tillämpad studie av vattenerosion i sydsvensk jord-bruksmark.
- 43. Liljeberg, M. (1997): Klassning och statistisk separabilitetsanalys av marktäck-ningsklasser i Halland, analys av multivariata data Landsat TM och ERS-1 SAR.

- 44. Roos, E. (1997): Temperature Variations and Landscape Heterogeneity in two Swedish Agricultural Areas. An application of mobile measurements.
- 45. Arvidsson, P. (1997): Regional fördelning av skogsskador i förhållande till mängd SO<sub>2</sub> under vegetationsperioden i norra Tjeckien.
- 46. Akselsson, C. (1997): Kritisk belastning av aciditet för skogsmark i norra Tjeckien.
- 47. Carlsson, G. (1997): Turbulens och supraglacial meandring.
- 48. Jönsson, C. (1998): Multitemporala vegetationsstudier i nordöstra Kenya med AVHRR NDVI
- 49. Kolmert, S. (1998): Evaluation of a conceptual semi-distributed hydrological model A case study of Hörbyån.
- 50. Persson, A. (1998): Kartering av markanvändning med meteorologisk satellitdata för förbättring av en atmosfärisk spridningsmodell.
- 51. Andersson, U. och Nilsson, D. (1998): Distributed hydrological modelling in a GIS perspective an evaluation of the MIKE SHE model.
- 52. Andersson, K. och Carlstedt, J. (1998): Different GIS and remote sensing techniques for detection of changes in vegetation cover A study in the Nam Ngum and Nam Lik catchment areas in the Lao PDR.
- 53. Andersson, J., (1999): Användning av global satllitdata för uppskattning av spannmålsproduktion i västafrikanska Sahel.
- 54. Flodmark, A.E., (1999): Urban Geographic Information Systems, The City of Berkeley Pilot GIS
- 55A. Lyborg, Jessic & Thurfell, Lilian (1999): Forest damage, water flow and digital elevation models: a case study of the Krkonose National Park, Czech Republic.
- 55B. Tagesson, I., och Wramneby, A., (1999): Kväveläckage inom Tolångaåns dräneringsområde – modellering och åtgärdssimulering.
- 56. Almkvist, E., (1999): Högfrekventa tryckvariationer under de senaste århundradena.
- 57. Alstorp, P., och Johansson, T., (1999): Översiktlig buller- och luftföroreningsinventering i Burlövs Kommun år 1994 med hjälp av geografiska informations-system – möjligheter och begränsningar.
- 58. Mattsson, F., (1999): Analys av molnklotter med IRST-data inom det termala

infraröda våglängdsområdet

59. Hallgren, L., och Johansson, A., (1999): Analysing land cover changes in the

Caprivi Strip, Namibia, using Landsat TM and Spot XS imagery.

- 60. Granhäll, T., (1999): Aerosolers dygnsvariationer och långväga transporter.
- 61. Kjellander, C., (1999): Variations in the energy budget above growing wheat and barley, Ilstorp 1998 a gradient-profile approach

62.	Moskvitina, M., (1999): GIS as a Tool for Environmental Impact
	Assessment - A case study of EIA implementation for the road building
	project in Strömstad.
	Sweden
63.	Eriksson, H., (1999): Undersökning av sambandet mellan
	strålningstemperatur
	och NDVI i Sahel
61	Elmavist P. Lundström I. (2000): The utility of NOAA AVHPP data
04.	for vagetation studies in semi-arid ragions
65	Wielsharg I (2000); CIS och statistils vid drängringsområdesvig
05.	wickberg, J., (2000). OIS och statistik vid draheningsonnadesvis
((	K vavelackage-deskrivning i Halland.
66.	Jonansson, M., (2000): Climate conditions required for re-glaciation of
	cirques in Rassepautasjtjakka massif, northern Sweden.
67.	Asserup, P., Eklof, M., (2000): Estimation of the soil moisture
6.0	distribution in the Tamne River Basin, Upper East Region, Ghana.
68.	Thern, J., (2000): Markvattenhalt och temperatur i sandig jordbruksmark
	vid Ilstorp, centrala Skåne: en mätnings- och modelleringsstudie.
69.	Andersson, C., Lagerström, M., (2000): Nitrogen leakage from different
	land use types - a comparison between the watersheds of Graisupis and
	Vardas, Lithuania.
70.	Svensson, M., (2000): Miljökonsekvensbeskrivning med stöd av
	Geografiska Informationssystem (GIS) – Bullerstudie kring Malmö-
	Sturup Flygplats.
71.	Hyltén, H.A., Uggla, E., (2000): Rule.Based Land Cover Classification
	and Erosion Risk Assessment of the Krkonoše National Park, Czech
	Republic.
72.	Cronquist, L., Elg, S., (2000): The usefulness of coarse resolution
	satellite sensor data for identification of biomes in Kenya.
73.	Rasmusson, A-K., (2000): En studie av landskapsindex för kvantifiering
	av rumsliga landskapsmönster.
74.	Olofsson, P., Stenström, R., (2000): Estimation of leaf area index in
	southern Sweden with optimal modelling and Landsat 7 ETM+Scene
75	Uggla H (2000): En analys av nattliga koldioxidflöden i en boreal
10.	barrskog avseende spatial och temporal variation
76	Andersson E. Andersson S. (2000): Modellering och uppmätta
70.	kväveflöden i energiskog som bevattnas med avlonnsvatten
77	Dawidson F. Nilsson C. (2000): Soil Organic Carbon in Upper East
//.	Pagion Chang. Mossurements and Modelling
79	Region, Onalia - Measurements and Modelling.
78.	offolter
70	effekter. $M_{1}$ (2001): El Ni <sup>2</sup> Couthern Obsillation of the structure finite.
/9.	Uliman, M., (2001): El Nino Southern Osciliation och dess atmosfariska
0.0	fjarrpaverkan.
80.	Andersson, A., (2001): The wind climate of northwestern Europe in
0.1	SWECLIM regional climate scenarios.
81.	Lalloo, D., (2001): Geografiska informationssystem för studier av
	polyaromatiska kolväten (PAH) – Undersökning av djupvariation i

BO01-området, Västra hamnen, Malmö, samt utveckling av en matematisk formel för beräkning av PAH-koncentrationer från ett kontinuerligt utsläpp.

- Almqvist, J., Fergéus, J., (2001): GIS-implementation in Sri Lanka.
  Part 1: GIS-applications in Hambantota district Sri Lanka : a case study.
  Part 2: GIS in socio-economic planning : a case study.
- 83. Berntsson, A., (2001): Modellering av reflektans från ett sockerbetsbestånd med hjälp av en strålningsmodell.
- 84. Umegård, J., (2001): Arctic aerosol and long-range transport.
- 85. Rosenberg, R., (2002): Tetratermmodellering och regressionsanalyser mellan topografi, tetraterm och tillväxt hos sitkagran och lärk en studie i norra Island.
- 86. Håkansson, J., Kjörling, A., (2002): Uppskattning av mängden kol i trädform en metodstudie.
- 87. Arvidsson, H., (2002): Coastal parallel sediment transport on the SE Australian inner shelf A study of barrier morphodynamics.
- 88. Bemark, M., (2002): Köphultssjöns tillstånd och omgivningens påverkan.
- 89. Dahlberg, I., (2002): Rödlistade kärlväxter i Göteborgs innerstad temporal och rumslig analys av rödlistade kärlväxter i Göteborgs artdataarkiv, ADA.
- 90. Poussart, J-N., (2002): Verification of Soil Carbon Sequestration -Uncertainties of Assessment Methods.
- 91. Jakubaschk, C., (2002): Acacia senegal, Soil Organic Carbon and Nitrogen Contents: A Study in North Kordofan, Sudan.
- 92. Lindqvist, S., (2002): Skattning av kväve i gran med hjälp av fjärranalys.
- 93. Göthe, A., (2002): Översvämningskartering av Vombs ängar.
- 94. Lööv, A., (2002): Igenväxning av Köphultasjö bakomliggande orsaker och processer.
- 95. Axelsson, H., (2003): Sårbarhetskartering av bekämpningsmedels läckage till grundvattnet – Tillämpat på vattenskyddsområdet Ignaberga-Hässleholm.
- 96. Hedberg, M., Jönsson, L., (2003): Geografiska Informationssystem på Internet – En webbaserad GIS-applikation med kalknings- och försurningsinformation för Kronobergs län.
- 97. Svensson, J., (2003): Wind Throw Damages on Forests Frequency and Associated Pressure Patterns 1961-1990 and in a Future Climate Scenario.
- 98. Stroh, E., (2003): Analys av fiskrättsförhållandena i Stockholms skärgård i relation till känsliga områden samt fysisk störning.
- 99. Bäckstrand, K., (2004): The dynamics of non-methane hydrocarbons and other trace gas fluxes on a subarctic mire in northern Sweden.
- 100. Hahn, K., (2004): Termohalin cirkulation i Nordatlanten.
- 101. Lina Möllerström (2004): Modelling soil temperature & soil water availability in semi-arid Sudan: validation and testing.

- 102. Setterby, Y., (2004): Igenväxande hagmarkers förekomst och tillstånd i Västra Götaland.
- 103. Edlundh, L., (2004): Utveckling av en metodik för att med hjälp av lagerföljdsdata och geografiska informationssystem (GIS) modellera och rekonstruera våtmarker i Skåne.
- 104. Schubert, P., (2004): Cultivation potential in Hambantota district, Sri Lanka
- 105. Brage, T., (2004): Kvalitetskontroll av servicedatabasen Sisyla
- 106. Sjöström., M., (2004): Investigating Vegetation Changes in the African Sahel 1982-2002: A Comparative Analysis Using Landsat, MODIS and AVHRR Remote Sensing Data
- 107. Danilovic, A., Stenqvist, M., (2004): Naturlig föryngring av skog
- 108. Materia, S., (2004): Forests acting as a carbon source: analysis of two possible causes for Norunda forest site
- 109. Hinderson, T., (2004): Analysing environmental change in semi-arid areas in Kordofan, Sudan
- 110. Andersson, J., (2004): Skånska småvatten nu och då jämförelse mellan 1940, 1980 och 2000-talet
- 111. Tränk, L., (2005): Kadmium i skånska vattendrag en metodstudie i föroreningsmodellering.
- 112. Nilsson, E., Svensson, A.-K., (2005): Agro-Ecological Assessment of Phonxay District, Luang Phrabang Province, Lao PDR. A Minor Field Study.
- 113
- 114
- 115
- 116. Lund, M. (2005): Winter Dynamics of the Greenhouse Gas Exchange in a Natural Bog